S251709

No.	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

PROTECTING OUR WATER & ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

vs.

STANISLAUS COUNTY et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District Case No. F073634

Appeal from the Stanislaus County Superior Court, Case No. 2006153

The Honorable Roger M. Beauchesne, Judge, Presiding

DEFENDANTS AND RESPONDENTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

*Matthew D. Zinn (SBN 214587) Sarah H. Sigman (SBN 260924) Shute, Mihaly & Weinberger LLP 396 Hayes Street San Francisco, CA 94102

Tel: (415) 552-7272 Fax: (415) 552-5816

Email: <u>zinn@smwlaw.com</u>

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The state Department of Water Resources publishes construction standards for wells to ensure they will not contaminate groundwater. Many counties, including Defendant Stanislaus County, implement those standards by requiring permits for well construction. These permits cannot be denied or modified to address any environmental impact other than to adjust a well's distance from a potential source of contamination. The Court of Appeal concluded that this represents sufficient discretion to trigger application of the California Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA").

Was the Court of Appeal here correct, or was the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>California Water Impact Network v. San</u>

<u>Luis Obispo County (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 666</u> correct in holding that the same state standards are not discretionary because they provide insufficient authority to require mitigation for environmental impacts that might be revealed by CEQA review?

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

A Stanislaus County ordinance requires landowners to obtain a permit for construction of groundwater wells. Through those permits, the County Department of Environmental Resources ("DER") regulates the design and construction of wells to ensure that they do not introduce contaminants to groundwater. The state Department of Water Resources ("DWR") has published and

periodically updated a set of statewide model standards for such permits, and since 1986, section <u>13801(c)</u> of the Water Code has required each city, county, and water agency in the state to implement a similar permitting program. The County's program, like other counties', implements the DWR standards.

Since the program's inception, the County has considered DER's approval of well-construction permits to be *ministerial* actions. Because CEQA requires environmental impact analysis only for *discretionary* actions, the County has identified the permits as exempt from CEQA in its local CEQA implementing procedures since 1983.

In the last several years, plaintiffs have begun suing counties alleging that these well-construction permits are discretionary and thus that counties must comply with CEQA before issuing them. Those suits have now led to a split of authority. The Fifth District Court of Appeal in this case held that the County's permits are discretionary actions, but the Second District Court of Appeal in California Water Impact Network v. San Luis Obispo County (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 666 ("California Water") held that identical permits issued by San Luis Obispo County were ministerial. The California Water court was correct, but because counties largely

apply the same statewide standards, the split leaves the remaining counties wondering how to proceed.

The Fifth District concluded here that the well-construction permits are discretionary because the permitting agency—here, the County Department of Environmental Resources ("DER")—has authority under the standards to require wells to be moved farther away from potential sources of groundwater contamination. As the court acknowledged, DER is powerless to reject a permit or impose conditions on its issuance to address any other issue. DER cannot control the use of the well in any way, including the amount of water pumped, or affect the use of that water or the land uses it serves.

The Court of Appeal's Opinion would therefore require the County—and any other county worried about being sued—to perform pointless environmental review. Under basic CEQA principles, DER would be required to evaluate all reasonably foreseeable environmental impacts of construction and operation of the well, direct or indirect, including the impacts arising from the use of water from the well. Yet the DER lacks any authority to require a permit applicant to avoid or minimize those impacts.

The Court of Appeal could have avoided this result if it had properly applied the test for discretion. The difference between ministerial and discretionary actions is a spectrum, not a dichotomy. Consequently, courts apply a "functional" test to determine whether an agency has sufficient discretion to trigger CEQA. That test asks whether the agency has sufficient authority to alter a proposed project in a way that will meaningfully address environmental impacts identified in the course of CEQA review. This is the test that courts have applied for decades, and it was the test that the court in *California Water* correctly applied to conclude that the identical well-construction permits in San Luis Obispo County are ministerial.

By contrast, the Court of Appeal here effectively applied a formal test. It latched on to the word "adequate" in a single standard for requiring wells to be located at a distance from potential sources of groundwater contamination. Based solely on DER's ability to require a permit applicant to move a well farther from such a potential source, the court concluded that CEQA compliance was required. It recognized that DER has no ability to reject or otherwise modify a proposed well in response to any evidence of any

other environmental impacts of a well that might be revealed by CEQA analysis.

In fact, the Court of Appeal here conceded that its ruling could impose a substantial burden with little benefit. It suggested its hands were tied and pointed to the Legislature for a solution. But the functional test for discretion provides a solution already in place.

The County does not object to having to comply with CEQA. The significant problem created by the Opinion is instead that DER has no authority to do anything to modify or reject a proposed well to mitigate the impacts that might be revealed by CEQA analysis. The County objects to having to perform such useless analysis. This Court should grant review and apply the functional test to ensure that the many counties that require similar well-construction permits are not required to undertake fruitless CEQA analysis.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Counties regulate groundwater well construction, largely by applying state standards.

For 50 years, the state Department of Water Resources ("DWR") has published technical standards for the construction

and destruction of wells. Those standards are designed to prevent wells from contaminating groundwater. The current *Bulletin No*. 74: Water Well Standards provides at least 16 separate sets of technical specifications to govern each of three types of wells domestic and agricultural groundwater, monitoring, and decommissioned wells. (Appellants' Appendix ("AA") 3:521, 536-37, 541-601; see also AA 3:447-81.) These standards include minimum distances between wells and potential pollutant sources (AA 3:450-53, 3:542-43); minimum depths of well seals below the ground and appropriate sealing materials (AA 3:453-460, 3:543-52); requirements to protect well openings (AA 3:460-64, 3:552-54); and materials and installation methods for well casings (AA 3:465-470, 3:554-56). Since 1986, Water Code section <u>13801(c)</u> has required that local governments adopt well construction ordinances that "meet[] or exceed[] the standards contained in" Bulletin No. 74.

The County adopted such an ordinance—now codified as Chapter 9.36 of the County Code ("Ordinance" or "Chapter 9.36")—

¹ Citations to the Appellants' Appendix are in the format "[volume]:[page]."

in 1973.² According to the California State Association of Counties' amicus brief supporting the County in the Court of Appeal, at least seven other county ordinances "closely resemble" Chapter 9.36. (Amicus Curiae Brief in Support of County by the Cal. State Assn. of Counties at 8 & fn. 1).

To construct, repair, or destroy a groundwater well, a property owner must first obtain a permit from the County Department of Environmental Resources. (See AA 3:664-72, 1:148-51; § 9.36.030.) DER issues hundreds of these permits each year. (AA 3:716 [Stipulated Fact 11].) Unless an applicant requests a variance, DER applies the "standards for the construction, repair, reconstruction or abandonment of wells . . . as set forth in Chapter II" of Bulletin No. 74, except as expressly modified or supplemented in Chapter 9.36. (§ 9.36.150.) If an application complies with the distance, design, and other applicable standards set forth in Chapter 9.36 and Bulletin No. 74, DER issues the permit. The Ordinance does not allow DER to regulate the use of a well or the use of water produced by the well.

_

² Chapter 9.36 is attached as Attachment 2. Further statutory references are to the County Code unless otherwise specified.

The County has always considered approval of these well-construction permits to be a ministerial function of DER and thus exempt from CEQA. (AA 1:073-74 [Stipulated Facts 2, 3, 9(a)(3), 9(b)(2)].) In fact, since 1983, when the County Board of Supervisors first adopted implementing procedures for CEQA, the County has identified those permits on its list of County approvals determined to be ministerial. (AA 3:680, 689; see also Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14 ("CEQA Guidelines"), § 15268(c) [each agency should "provide an identification or itemization of its projects and actions which are deemed ministerial"].)

II. The State and County begin to regulate groundwater *extraction* in 2014.

Counties have thus regulated well construction for decades. In 2014, however, both the State and County passed legislation to regulate groundwater *extraction* for the first time. The Sustainable Groundwater Management Act ("SGMA") requires that public water agencies, counties, and other local agencies begin to adopt plans in 2020 that will regulate extraction within 50 years. (See Water Code §§ 10721(k), (r), (v), 10727, 10727.2(c).) And in November 2014, the County adopted its own ordinance to regulate some

wells to prevent the "unsustainable extraction of groundwater."³ (§§ 9.37.040(A), 9.37.050(A); see also AA 1:073 [Stipulated Fact 4], 1:160-68.) Accordingly, although the well-construction-permitting program does not allow DER to regulate groundwater extraction, both the State and County have now developed new programs to provide that regulation.

III. The trial court holds that the County permits are ministerial, and the Court of Appeal reverses despite the decision in *California Water*.

In January 2014, Plaintiffs challenged the County's implementation of its well-construction permit program. They alleged that the County's longstanding "pattern and practice" of treating well-construction permits as ministerial, and thus exempt from CEQA, violated the statute. (AA 1:11.) After a trial based on stipulated facts, the superior court agreed with the County that DER's issuance of well-construction permits is ministerial and thus

-

³ The 2014 groundwater ordinance exempts small wells and wells subject to a water agency's approved groundwater management plan. (§§ 9.37.050(A), 9.37.030(10).) All permits subject to Chapter 9.37 are discretionary and subject to CEQA. (AA 1:074 [Stipulated Fact 9(a)(2)].)

exempt from CEQA.⁴ (AA 1:68, 73-75 [Stipulated Facts], 3:740-53 [statement of decision].)

Plaintiffs appealed on April 11, 2016. After full briefing and argument, but before the court issued the Opinion, on June 28, 2018, the Second District Court of Appeal rejected a CEQA challenge to San Luis Obispo County's substantively identical well-permitting ordinance, which similarly adopts the Bulletin No. 74 standards. (California Water, supra, 25 Cal.App.5th 666.) The Second District held that "[n]o aspect of that ordinance, or the DWR standards it incorporates, supports an interpretation that well permits are discretionary." (Id. at 679.) The plaintiffs in California Water filed a petition for review in this Court on September 4,

⁴ In November 2015, after the trial in this case, a different group of plaintiffs challenged a single well-construction permit that DER had issued on November 18, 2014. (See *Coston v. Stanislaus County* (Aug. 24, 2018) No. F074209, [2018 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 6474].) In that case, the trial court granted the County's motion for judgment on the pleadings on the same basis as its decision in this case. On appeal, the parties agreed that the two cases should be consolidated given the identity of issues. The Court of Appeal declined to consolidate them, but heard the cases together and issued virtually identical decisions on the CEQA issue in both cases. Along with this petition, the County is filing a petition for review of the *Coston* decision on the same issue.

2018. (California Water Impact Network v. San Luis Obispo County, Case No. S251056.)

The Court of Appeal issued the Opinion in this case on August 24, 2018, about two months after *California Water*. Based on a single standard in the DWR Bulletin, the court held that "the County retains discretion to determine whether a well will be placed an 'adequate' distance from a contamination source," and thus "the issuance of well construction permits is a 'discretionary' decision for CEQA purposes." (Opinion at 2.) That standard lists default minimum distances between wells and common sources of contamination such as septic tanks. (AA 3:542-43.) It also allows the enforcing agency to adjust the default distances to address unusually "adverse" conditions or conditions that preclude compliance with the default minimum distances. (AA 3:543.)

⁵ The Opinion distinguished this language from other standards that it found ministerial, including those for locating wells upgradient from contamination sources and outside areas of flooding "where possible." (Opinion at 10, fn. 8.)

GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

I. The Court of Appeal's conclusion that wellconstruction permits are discretionary squarely conflicts with *California Water*. It thus leaves counties wondering how to proceed in issuing such permits.

The Fifth and Second Districts considered exactly the same DWR standards and reached opposite conclusions. Chapter 9.36 incorporates the same Bulletin No. 74 standards incorporated by the San Luis Obispo County well-permitting ordinance—and by many other county codes. (Compare § 9.36.150 ["Except as may be otherwise provided by this chapter, standards for the construction, repair, reconstruction or abandonment of wells shall be as set forth in Chapter II of . . . Bulletin No. 74 "] with California Water, supra, 25 Cal.App.5th 666, 677 ["Standards for the construction, repair, modification or destruction of wells shall be as set forth' in DWR Bulletins"] (quoting San Luis Obispo County Code § 8.40.060(a)).)

Chapter II of the Bulletin sets forth a host of highly technical standards for well construction. The Court of Appeal in this case homed in on only one of those standards to hold that CEQA applies to all well permits: "because the County retains discretion to determine whether a well will be placed an 'adequate' distance from

a contamination source, the issuance of well construction permits is a 'discretionary' decision for CEQA purposes." (Opinion at 2; see also *id*. at 13, fn. 11 ["[W]hile the horizontal separation distances enumerated in the Bulletin provide some objective guideposts, the surrounding provisions confirm that the ultimate standard is that well/pollution separation[] distances must be 'adequate."].) According to the Fifth District, the County's ability to require *some* adjustment in the spacing between a well and a potential contaminant source triggers full review under CEQA. This stands in direct conflict with *California Water*.

The Second District also considered "whether state standards, set forth in DWR bulletins, require [San Luis Obispo] County to exercise discretion before issuing a well permit." (California Water, supra, 25 Cal.App.5th 666, 675.) But it held that "[n]o aspect of that ordinance, or the DWR standards it incorporates,"—the very same standards applied by Stanislaus County—"supports an interpretation that well permits are discretionary. Instead, the statutory scheme imposes fixed technical requirements." (Id. at 679; see also id. at 677 ["A well building permit is a type of building permit. So long as technical standards and objective measurements are met, County must issue a well permit to licensed

contractors," making those permits ministerial and exempt from CEQA.].) This analysis of the same state standards leaves no room to reconcile the Opinion with the decision in *California Water*.

Despite being unpublished,⁶ the Opinion here and its departure from *California Water* will create significant confusion for counties across California about whether their well-construction permits are subject to CEQA. The dilemma about which case to rely on will be especially acute for counties in the Fifth District.

Because the Opinion is unpublished, superior courts throughout the state would be bound by the published decision in *California Water* for the moment. (*Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455.) However, the existence of the Opinion means that plaintiffs will surely continue to challenge any county outside the Second District that attempts to rely on *California Water*, recognizing that they have a solid chance of prevailing on appeal. Indeed, given the Opinion, that outcome is

_

⁶ This Court has periodically granted review of decisions despite their being unpublished. (See, e.g., <u>Scottsdale Ins. Co. v. MV Transportation (2005) 36 Cal.4th 643, 654, fn. 2; <u>Ehrlich v. City of Culver City</u> (1996) 12 Cal.4th 854, 859; <u>In re Kieshia E.</u> (1993) 6 Cal.4th 68, 81.)</u>

virtually certain in the Fifth District. Counties, which must try to anticipate how a court in practice will view their conduct, will thus be unable to safely rely on the *California Water* decision. (See O.W. Holmes, Jr., *The Path of the Law* (1897) 10 Harv.L.Rev. 457, 458 ["[A] legal duty so called is nothing but a prediction that if a man does or omits certain things he will be made to suffer in this or that way by judgment of the court"].)

In sum, the conflicting decisions create significant legal uncertainty across the state for county permitting programs that are based on a single *statewide* model. This is precisely the kind of problem that this Court's review is designed to solve. (See <u>Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1)</u>; see also, e.g., <u>Beatrice Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization (1993) 6 Cal.4th 767, 770-771</u> [review granted to resolve uncertainty created by split of authority].)

II. The Court of Appeal's opinion would require counties to perform fruitless environmental review.

The Opinion would require counties implementing the DWR standards to perform CEQA review for hundreds of permits each year. Yet county permitting agencies such as DER could do little or nothing to avoid the environmental impacts revealed by that

review because the standards do not allow them to deny permits or impose mitigating conditions on them.

This would be a clear waste of scarce public resources and inconsistent with this Court's holding that "[t]he purpose of CEQA is not to generate paper." (*Bozung v. Local Agency Formation Com.* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 263, 283.) Courts have avoided that outcome by adopting a pragmatic, "functional" test for discretion under CEQA. The Court of Appeal failed to properly apply that test.

A. Courts apply a "functional test" to determine whether agency action on a project is discretionary for purposes of CEQA: the agency must have sufficient authority to reject or modify the project in response to information revealed by a CEQA analysis.

CEQA applies only to projects subject to discretionary governmental approval (Pub. Resources Code § 21080(a)), and thus not to ministerial projects (id. § 21080(b)(1)). But the distinction between the two is not black and white. Indeed, "[i]t would be difficult to conceive of any official act, no matter how directly ministerial, that did not admit of some discretion in the manner of its performance, even if it involved only the driving of a nail."

(Johnson v. State (1968) 69 Cal.2d 782, 788, cited in CEQA Guidelines §§ 15357 note, 15369 note.)

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