Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 10/23/2018 by Robert Toy, Deputy Clerk

#### Case No. S251709

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### PROTECTING OUR WATER & ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES et al., Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

STANISLAUS COUNTY et al., Defendants and Respondents.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Fifth Appellate District Case No. F073634

Appeal from the Stanislaus County Superior Court Case No. 2006153 The Honorable Roger M. Beauchesne, Judge, Presiding

#### PLAINTIFFS AND APPELLANTS ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### I. INTRODUCTION.

Stanislaus County has petitioned for review of the instant decision by the Fifth District Court of Appeal (*POWER*), as well as the decision by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the companion case of *Jamie Coston*, *et al.*, *v. Stanislaus County*, *et al.*, Supreme Court Case No. S251721 (*Coston*).

Plaintiffs request that the Court deny the petition for review and order the opinion in *California Water Impact Network v. County of San Luis Obispo* (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 666, review filed Sept. 4, 2018; Supreme Court Case No. S251056 (*California Water*) depublished, for the reasons given in Section II, below.

If the Court grants review, Plaintiffs request that the Court also review the additional questions presented in section III, below.

In section IV below, Plaintiffs respond to the County's erroneous arguments that the Court of Appeal incorrectly decided this case.

# II. THE COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW AND ORDER THE *CALIFORNIA WATER* OPINION DEPUBLISHED.

The Court should deny the petition for review and order the *California Water* opinion depublished. The County argues that the unpublished opinions in *Coston* and *POWER* conflict with the published decision by the Second District Court of Appeal in *California Water*. Based on this asserted conflict, the County argues that counties around the state will be uncertain what their legal obligations are with respect to applying the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) to well construction permits. (*Coston* Petition 22-23, *POWER* Petition 21-22.) *Assuming arguendo* that this concern is valid, this Court can eliminate that concern by ordering the *California Water* opinion depublished. (CRC, Rule 8.1125(c)(2).) Plaintiffs' letter to the Second District Court of Appeal opposing publication of the *California Water* opinion is attached hereto.

#### **III. ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS PRESENTED.**

If the Court grants review, Plaintiffs request that the Court review the following additional issues.

1. Does Stanislaus County's local groundwater well permit ordinance incorporate the state Bulletins' general discretionary standards, and thereby confer discretionary authority triggering CEQA review?

2. Do the state Bulletins' specific discretionary standards referenced in footnote 8 of the Opinion confer discretionary authority triggering CEQA review?

3. Does the fact that the County's well permit ordinance authorizes a limited range of measures the County can impose on well permits to protect

9

the environment render additional mitigation measures that may be identified in an Environmental Impact Report legally infeasible?

4. Does "discretionary" mean the same thing for purposes of CEQA and constitutional due process requirements?

# A. Does Stanislaus County's local groundwater well permit ordinance incorporate the state Bulletins' general discretionary standards, and thereby confer discretionary authority triggering CEQA review?

In both *Coston* and *POWER*, the Court of Appeal held that one state well construction permit standard incorporated by the local ordinance gives the county discretion to modify well construction projects "to address impacts revealed by environmental analysis," thereby triggering CEQA review. (*Coston* Slip Op. 14; *POWER* Slip Op. 13.) This "separation" standard provides minimum distances between potential sources of contamination and proposed wells and states: "All water wells shall be located an *adequate* horizontal distance from known or potential sources of pollution and contamination." (*Coston* Slip Op. 12; *POWER* Slip Op. 11; citing Bulletin No. 74-90, section 8(A).) The Court of Appeal based this holding on the standard's requirement that, regardless of any generically specified distances, the actual distance must be "adequate," which requires the exercise of judgment and discretion (*Coston* Slip Op. 14; *POWER* Slip Op. 13; citing *People v. Department of Housing & Community Dev.* (1975) 45 Cal.App.3d 185, 193-194 (*People v. Department of Housing*)) and gives Stanislaus County the power to "address impacts revealed by environmental analysis (*Coston* Slip Op. 14; *POWER* Slip Op. 13; citing *Friends of Westwood, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles* (1987) 191 Cal.App.3d 259, 267 (*Friends of Westwood*).)

The Opinion does not, however, rule on Plaintiffs' contention that Stanislaus County's local ordinance gives the County discretionary authority over well permit application by incorporating general discretionary standards from the state bulletins. Plaintiffs' contend these general standards provide the County with discretion to address and reduce site-specific environmental harm by changing the Bulletin's technical standards or creating new standards, as appropriate.

With respect to these general discretionary standards, the Opinion states: "The parties disagree, however, as to whether other provisions in the Bulletin are incorporated by section 9.36.150. We need not resolve that issue because we conclude a provision the parties do agree was incorporated – i.e., the contamination source spacing standard – renders the issuance of well permits discretionary." (*Coston* Slip Op. 11, n. 16; *POWER* Slip Op. 10, n. 9.) County Code section 9.36.150 addresses "Standards adopted" and incorporates by reference the standards adopted by the state Department of Water Resources ("DWR"), stating:

Except as may be otherwise provided by this chapter, standards for the construction, repair, reconstruction or abandonment of wells shall be as set forth in Chapter II of the Department of Water Resources Bulletin No. 74, "Water Well Standards" (February 1968), or as subsequently revised or supplemented, which are incorporated in this chapter and made a part of this chapter.

(AA 120.) Bulletin No. 74 (at AA 123) was updated in 1981 in Bulletin

No. 74-81 (at AA 139, 149), and supplemented again in 1990 in Bulletin

No. 74-90 (AA 179 [or 498], 592, 181 [or 607]).<sup>1</sup>

Chapter II of Bulletin No. 74, entitled "Standards" provides:

The standards presented in this chapter are intended to apply to construction (including reconstruction) or destruction of wells throughout the State of California. *Under certain circumstances, adequate protection of ground water quality may require more stringent standards than these presented* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Bulletin No. 74-81 explains DWR's authority and purpose in issuing well standards by reference to Water Code section 13800. (AA 141-42.) Water Code section 13801, subdivision (c), provides: "Notwithstanding any other law, each county, city, or water agency, where appropriate, shall, not later than January 15, 1990, adopt a water well, cathodic protection well, and monitoring well drilling and abandonment ordinance that meets or exceeds the standards contained in Bulletin 74-81."

here; under other circumstances, it may be necessary to deviate from the standards or substitute other measures which will provide protection equal to that provided by these standards. Since it is impractical to prepare standards for every conceivable situation, provision has been made in the succeeding material for deviation from the standards as well as for addition of appropriate supplementary standards.

(AA 129 [Bulletin 74] (emphasis added).) This passage was updated in Bulletin No. 74-81 without substantial change. (AA 148 [Bulletin 74-81].) Thus, both originally and currently, the state standards contemplate the exercise of judgment and discretion by local authorities to determine how best to protect groundwater resources.

The need for local officials to exercise discretion is also expressed in

Bulletin No. 74-81 at Chapter II, Part I, section 3, which provides:

Exemption Due to Unusual Conditions. If the enforcing agency finds that compliance with any of the requirements prescribed herein is impractical for a particular location because of unusual conditions or if compliance would result in construction of an unsatisfactory well, *the enforcing agency may waive compliance and prescribe alternative requirements which are "equal to" these standards* in terms of protection obtained.

(AA 150 [Bulletin 74-81, Chapter II, § 3] (emphasis added).) Bulletin 74-81 provides additional discretionary authority for local agencies to prescribe "*special standards*" to account for "locations where existing geologic or ground water conditions require standards more restrictive than those described herein." (AA 151 [DWR Bulletin 74-81, Chapter II, § 5] (emphasis added).)

Bulletin 74-90, issued in 1990, updates Bulletin 74-81. (AA 592, 181 [or 607].) This Bulletin also recognizes that local authorities must also exercise judgment in approving well construction permits:

Well standards contained in Bulletin 74-81 together with well standards in this supplement (Bulletin 74-90) are recommended *minimum* statewide standards for the protection of ground water quality. The standards are not necessarily sufficient for local conditions. Local enforcing agencies may need to adopt more stringent standards for local conditions to ensure ground water quality protection. ¶ In some cases, it may be necessary for a local enforcing agency to substitute alternate measures or standards to provide protection equal to that otherwise afforded by DWR standards. Such cases arise from practicalities in applying standards, and from variations in geologic and hydrologic conditions. Because it is impractical to prepare "site-specific" standards covering every conceivable case, provision has been made for deviation from the standards. ¶ Standards in Bulletin 74-81 and this supplement (Bulletin 74-90) do not ensure proper construction or function of any type of well. Proper well design and construction practices require the use of these standards together with accepted industry practices, regulatory requirements, and consideration of site conditions.

(AA 181 [or 607] (emphasis in original).)

Bulletin 74-90 further provides that many normal standards are

subject to exceptions or alternative standards "at the approval of the enforcing agency on a case-by-case basis" or where "otherwise approved by the enforcing agency." (AA 186-87 [Bulletin 74-90, Part II, § 9.B].)

The County asserts that its ordinance incorporates only the specific, technical standards described in the state standards, and not the more general discretionary standards. This is incorrect for two reasons. First, there is nothing in the relevant County ordinance that supports the argument. (See AA 139 [County Code § 9.36.150].) Second, the County was required to adopt its ordinance by state law, which requires that the County adopt an ordinance that "meets or exceeds the standards" adopted by the state. (Water Code § 13801, subd. (c), AA 412-13[DWR Bulletin 74-81].) State law does not discriminate, for purposes of requiring that local ordinances "meet or exceed" its standards, between its quantitative and qualitative standards. The County's view would put the local ordinance at odds with the state law that requires it to "meet or exceed" the state standards and violate the rule of statutory construction against interpreting a statute in a way that defeats its purpose. (International Federation of Professional & Technical Engineers, AFL-CIO v. City of San *Francisco* (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 213, 224.)

The Bulletins' general discretionary standards show the County can

"modify" all well construction permits to protect the environment. "[W]here the agency possesses enough authority (that is, discretion) to deny or modify the proposed project on the basis of environment consequences the EIR might conceivably uncover, the permit process is 'discretionary' within the meaning of CEQA." (*Friends of Westwood, supra,* 191 Cal.App.3d at 272 (emphasis in original).)

# B. Do the state Bulletins' specific discretionary standards referenced in footnote 8 of the Opinion confer discretionary authority triggering CEQA review?

Bulletin No. 74-90 also provides for locating wells upstream of

contamination sources, if possible:

Gradients. *Where possible*, a well shall be located up the ground water gradient from potential sources of pollution or contamination. Locating wells up gradient from pollutant and contaminant sources can provide an extra measure of protection for a well. However, *consideration should be given* that the gradient near a well can be reversed by pumping, as shown in Figure 3 (page 28 of Bulletin 74-81), or by other influences.

(AA 184 [Bulletin 74-90, Part II, § 8.B (emphasis added)].)

In addition, Bulletin No. 74-90 provides for locating the wells

outside areas of flooding, if possible:

Flooding and Drainage. *If possible*, a well *should be located* outside of areas of flooding. The top of the well casing shall terminate above grade and above known levels of flooding caused by drainage or runoff from surrounding land. For community water supply wells, this level is defined as the: "...

floodplain of a 100 year flood..." or above "... any recorded high tide...", (Section 64417, Siting Requirements, Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations.) If compliance with the casing height requirement for community water supply wells and other water wells is not practical, *the enforcing agency shall require alternate means of protection*. ¶ Surface drainage from areas near the well shall be directed away from the well. *If necessary*, the area around the well shall be built up so that drainage moves away from the well.

(AA 184 [Bulletin 74-90, Part II, § 8.C (emphasis added)].)

By incorporating these standards by reference, County Code section 9.36.150 requires that the County exercise discretion in deciding whether to issue well construction permits, because the County may deny the permit or require changes in the project as a condition of permit approval to address concerns relating to environmental impacts. The language used in the above standards demonstrate the need for County authorities to make individualized determinations on the facts and circumstances presented on a range of issues. Indeed, the County must judge whether the location of the well is appropriate in light of its "opinion" of the required distance from contamination sources and whether it is "possible" to locate the well upgradient from contamination sources. (AA 183-84 [Bulletin 74-90].) The County must also "consider" "the possibility of reversal of flow near the well due to pumping." (AA 184 [Bulletin 74-90].)

The Court of Appeal held that standards conditioned on compliance

on being "possible" are not discretionary because—in the Court of Appeal's view—whether a directive is "possible" is an "objective" test. This is not an obvious conclusion.

The term "possible" includes "Capable of existing or happening; feasible."<sup>2</sup> CEQA case law has long held that determinations of feasibility are discretionary and trigger CEQA review. (See e.g., *Citizens for Non-Toxic Pest Control v. Department of Food & Agriculture* (1986) 187 Cal.App.3d 1575, 1583 ["Having made the final determinations as to

whether or not it was feasible to eradicate the AMFF and what method would be most effective in doing so, CDFA cannot validly claim that it was performing purely ministerial functions. The 1985 project was discretionary within the meaning of section 21080, subdivision (a), and therefore subject to regulation under CEQA").]

C. Does the fact that the County's well permit ordinance authorizes a limited range of measures the County can impose on well permits to protect the environment render additional mitigation measures that may be identified in an Environmental Impact Report legally infeasible?

The Opinion suggests that because the County's well permit ordinance authorizes a limited range of measures the County can impose on well permits to protect the environment, additional mitigation measures that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://thelawdictionary.org/possible/

may be identified in an Environmental Impact Report may be found "legally infeasible," stating:

The County and Amicus Curiae argue that CEQA review would require the County to analyze a host of environmental impacts it is powerless to address. But that is not grounds for dispensing with CEQA review altogether. When a lead agency identifies mitigation measures that it lacks legal authority to impose, it may simply make a finding in the environmental document that the measures are legally infeasible. (See Sequoyah Hills Homeowners Assn. v. City of Oakland (1993) 23 Cal.App.4th 704, 715–716; see also § 21081, subd.(a)(3) [referencing "legal ... considerations" which "make infeasible the mitigation measures or alternatives identified in the environmental impact report"]; Guidelines, § 15364 [referencing the role of "legal ... factors" in determining feasibility].)

(Coston Slip Op. 23; POWER Slip Op. 23-24.)

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